
 

 

                                       URBANA CITY COUNCIL 

                      REGULAR SESSION MINUTES – JUNE 14, 2011 
Council President Marty Hess called the Urbana City Council Regular Session Meeting 
of Tuesday, June 14, 2011, to order at 7:00PM, in Court Chambers/The Municipal 
Building. 
Attendance: All Councilmen were present. 
City Staff in Attendance: Mayor Ruth Zerkle; Mr. Bruce Evilsizor, Director of 
Administration; Mr. Lee Williams, Finance Director; Mr. Doug Crabill, Assistant to the 
Director of Administration; Mr. Robert Munch; Mr. Colin Stein 
Roll Call and Pledge of Allegiance 

 

Approval of Minutes 
Mr. Larry Lokai moved to approve the City/County Minutes of April 19, 2011 
(Submitted by Ms. Andrea Millice, Clerk/Administrator, Champaign County Board of 
Commissioners), and the UCC Regular Session Minutes of May 24, 2011; Mr. Eugene 
Fields seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
 
Communications 
Mr. Robert Thorpe moved to place the following Communications on file: 
The LUC Regional Planning Commission Executive Committee Meeting Minutes (May 
12, 2011); Correspondence from the Champaign County Farm Bureau (June 7, 2011); 
City of Urbana Shade Tree Commission Minutes (May 2011 - #95); City of Urbana 
Planning Commission Minutes (February 21, 2011); and The City of Urbana Board of 
Zoning Appeals Minutes (April 18, 2011); 
Mr. Lokai seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
 
Administrative Reports – Board of Control 

1. 
Mr. Fields moved to authorize a purchase order to Cason Roofing in the amount of 
$15,235.20 (lowest of 2 bids received including an alternate) for replacement of the roof 
at the Taft Ave. Garage (This will be charged to the Street Dept. Capital, and is not in the 
2011 Budget / The entire expense was covered by proceeds of insurance funds paid in 
2010); Mr. Al Evans seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Colin Stein noted the roof was damaged during a 2010 wind storm, and explained the 
bids. 
2. 
Mr. Thorpe moved to authorize a purchase order to White’s Ford in the amount of 
$15,510 for the purchase of a 2011 Ford F-150 truck (This will be charged to the Water 
Department, and is in the 2011 Budget); Mr. Fields seconded. Motion carried without 
objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Robert Munch explained the reason for the projected purchase, and made reference 
to the increased expenditures that have been spent on repairs. 
“Is this the lowest bid?” asked Mr. Evans. 
Mr. Munch replied, “Yes—it’s actually equal to the State bid?” 



 

 

“Is there a trade, or just outright….?” Mr. Kerry Brugger asked. 
“I believe the Waste Water Plant wants our trucks that we don’t want,” said Mr. Munch. 
“F-150 is a little bigger than an S-10…how come you didn’t go with a Ranger?” asked 
Mr. Steve Shaw. 
“S-10s aren’t actually big enough to do the job that we need done…if you put 2 people in 
an S-10 (especially the size of some of the guys in my department)…” Mr. Munch said, 
explaining the lack of size does not merit a place in the work force. 
Mr. Thorpe commented that the F-150 (or the Chevy 100) is a much better truck than the 
little Rangers and S-10s. 
3. 

Mr. Brugger moved to authorize a purchase order to White’s Ford in the amount of 
$17,924 for the purchase of a 2012 Ford Escape (This will be charged to the Sewer Dept., 
and is in the 2011 Budget); Mr. Thorpe seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Doug Crabill spoke on behalf of Mr. Chad Hall: 
“The plan is (as Bob mentioned)…there’s a Water truck going to the Sewer Plant. There 
are 2 vehicles the Sewer Plant wants to get rid of (and 1 of those is a trade-in with this 
particular purchase—for the Escape, there’s a trade-in of $500. for a 1988 Ford F-150—
so that’s going to get traded in). There’s a vehicle that…probably is going to the salvage 
yard, so that basically states the plan right now…and goes back and forth between the 
Compost Facility, so probably that Water truck is going to go into either the 
Compost…or somewhere at the Sewer Plant…and then the truck (that Chad drives 
now—the F-150, the maroon one) will go to the Sewer Department, and then this vehicle 
would be Chad’s (so the Superintendent vehicle).” 
Mr. Evans thanked Mr. Crabill for ‘having this information.’ 
Mr. Brugger said, “The Escape vs. the pickup truck—is there a reason that you need an 
enclosed cab all the way around?” 
Mr. Crabill was unsure of the reason. 
Mr. Stein told Mr. Brugger that sometimes employees need to keep hours up with school, 
and noted the increased passenger space (for 3-4 people) is necessary. 
Mr. Lokai noted that the Sewer Department often gets ‘hand me downs,’ and said, “This 
is a good move!” 
4. 
Mr. Evans moved to authorize a purchase order to E.J. Prescott in the amount of $7,660. 
for the purchase of 2—6” valve insertions as recommended by Fire Division (This will be 
charged to the Water Dept., and is not in the 2011 Budget); Mr. Fields seconded. Motion 
carried without objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Evans said, “Now this was on a recommendation—recommended memo from Mr. 
Jones?” 
Mr. Chris Jones (Fire Division) addressed Council regarding  the Fire Department’s 
annual flow testing, and discussed the lack of proper water flow in the 4th Ward 
(apartment area from Gwynne St. to Washington). 
“Once a building there is over 25% involved, we don’t have enough water to handle the 
fire,” he said. “In that process, we found out there was a broken valve.” 
He noted with the valve replacement, the area would be retested.  



 

 

Mr. Jones told Council, “This is the cheapest first step.” 
Mr. Brugger asked, “Do we know how long that valve’s been broken, or off?” 
“No,” replied Mr. Jones. 
Mr. Lokai spoke of bids, and checking on subcontractors (meetings specs). 
Mr. Jones indicated there is interest in getting this situation resolved prior to paving. 
“I guess in this situation, the City crews will be digging the hole and this company will 
come in and do the valve insertion…” said Mr. Evilsizor. “This is a good effort by the 
Fire Department and Firefighter Chris Jones to identify this problem. Once it was 
identified…working with the Water Department and Engineering to figure out what 
needs to be done on it. It was kind of nice watching everybody work through this, and 
getting things taken care of.” 
Council President Hess asked, “How long has the flow been low, Chris? A long time?” 
Mr. Jones replied, “We did 4th Ward 2 years ago…and by the time we get it all calculated 
and all that…and then we started looking at trouble areas of the 4th Ward…this was one 
of the trouble areas. 
5. 

Mr. Lokai moved to authorize the Director of Administration to enter into a unit price 
contract with Alexander Concrete for the Oakland  St. Curb Ramp Project in the amount 
of $38,301 (This is the lowest of 7 bids received, and will be paid with FY2010 CDBG 
Funds); Mr. Steve Shaw seconded. Motion carried without objection. 
Discussion – 
Mr. Crabill explained BOC Item #5: 
“This is to replace the curb ramps on Oakland Street (from Miami to the city limits going 
north), and then also a couple ramps on Miami that still don’t have the correct standard 
for curb ramps. ODOT is actually under contract to pave Oakland Street in August, so 
we’re required to have these ramps in before they’re paved. This is part of our FY2010 
CDBG that we applied for last year (and received late last year)…” 
Mr. Crabill referred to the interest in this project, and noted the bidders ‘were from all 
over.’ He said this item was very competitive. 
Mr. Bill Bean acknowledged there was a wide range with the bids, and noted Alexander 
Concrete was low by a considerable amount. 
“Have they done work for us before?” he asked. 
Mr. Crabill replied, “No, they have not worked for us before—I believe they’ve worked 
with the City of Fostoria before (that was in their bid).” 
“They’re up in—Bellefontaine?” asked Mr. Bean. 
“Bellefontaine—yeah,” answered Mr. Crabill. 
Mr. Brugger said, “There were some pieces in there that just seemed (in my opinion) kind 
of way out-of-line…how do you differentiate? Is it strictly low bid? Is it lowest and best, 
or is there…?” 
Mr. Crabill responded, “If they’ve met all of the other bid requirements (as far as the bid 
bond, and all of the other paperwork was in the bid) then it’s lowest and best. It seemed 
like there were 6 which were within 10,000 of each other…then there was one that was 
just way up there…” 
Mr. Brugger pointed to particulars in the bid sheets. 
Mr. Al Evans noted that in his experience, the cheapest isn’t always the best. 
“We’re pretty much required to accept the low bid,” said Mr. Crabill. 



 

 

“I understand,” replied Mr. Evans. 
“At the last Council Meeting, they had bid on different contracts for the cement work—
weren’t some of those involved in the curbs and gutters, and things like that?” asked Mr. 
Fields. 
“Right—all the concrete items are in there, but it’s not a…this is a Federally assisted 
project, so…it’s a local bid process versus Federal money being involved, and Federal 
requirements,” stated Mr. Crabill. 
“There is a bid bond on this?” asked Council President Hess. 
“Yes,” said Mr. Crabill. 
“Our Engineer’s going to be supervising the work?” asked Mr. Evans. 
“Yes…” Mr. Crabill replied. 
 
Citizen Comments 
There were no Citizen Comments at this Meeting. 
 
Ordinances and Resolutions 

Third Reading – 
There were no Third Readings. 
 
Second Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2332 (Revised) remained TABLED 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 4362 – 
AN ORDINANCE TO REVISE THE CODIFIED ORDINANCES BY ADOPTING 
CURRENT REPLACEMENT PAGES 
*Read and declared a Second Reading 
Discussion – 
The Clerk indicated advertising (7 days notice) was completed, and recommended 
passage. 
Mr. Crabill said the legal notice announced the final reading as June 28th. 
The Clerk noted the ad said both.  
Council President Hess recommended the Ordinance go to the Third Reading, because 
‘there is no hurry for passage.’ 
 
First Reading – 

RESOLUTION NO. 2334 – 

A RESOLUTION TO RESCIND RESOLUTION NO. 2200 DUE TO A CHANGE IN 
WORK LOCATION AND TO AUTHORIZE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL 
BETWEEN THE CITY OF URBANA, OHIO AND THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR PAVEMENT PLANING AND RESURFACING OF U.S. 
ROUTE 68 FROM REYNOLDS ST. TO LAUREL/ OAK ST. WITHIN THE CITY OF 
URBANA (CHP-US68-6.37) 
*Read and declared a First Reading  
Discussion – 
Mr. Crabill explained the purpose of Resolution Nos. 2334, 2335, 2336 
No questions/comments from Council. 



 

 

Mr. Crabill indicated that the Resolutions do not have to be passed immediately, and he 
elaborated on timing of the projects. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2335 – 

A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF URBANA, OHIO AND THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR PAVEMENT PLANING AND RESURFACING OF U.S. 68 
FROM STATE ROUTE 55 TO REYNOLDS ST. WITHIN THE CITY OF URBANA 
(CHP-US68-5.65) 
*Read and declared a First Reading 
Discussion – 
Mr. Thorpe questioned whether the manholes will be brought up to level when the paving 
is done. 
Mr. Crabill proved assurances regarding the manholes, but Mr. Thorpe still expressed 
uncertainty about how the process would be completed. Mr. Crabill referred to work done 
on State Route 55 last Summer (with the ODOT project), and said he is ‘assuming that’s 
the same.’ 
“I’m not the Engineer, so…” Mr. Crabill said. “I can get an answer for you.” 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2336 – 

A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE PRELIMINARY APPROVAL BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF URBANA, OHIO AND THE OHIO DEPARTMENT OF 
TRANSPORTATION FOR PAVEMENT PLANING AND RESURFACING OF U.S. 
ROUTE 68 FROM LAUREL / OAK ST. TO THE NORTH CORPORATION LIMIT 
WITHIN THE CITY OF URBANA (CHP-US68-7.17) 
*Read and declared a First Reading 
Discussion – 
Mr. Crabill noted he had budget information available, and discussed percentage 
responsibility for the cost. 
“What happened—you said we went from $675,000 to $1.1mil?” asked Mr. Bean. 
“We had that on 55 (where ODOT’s estimate went up quite a bit)—I don’t know if 
it’s…probably the fluctuation in fuel (that’s probably one factor),” stated Mr. Crabill. “I 
know on 55 the condition had deteriorated more than they had originally anticipated (so 
that was one reason it went up)…but this street doesn’t seem as bad, so I don’t 
know…I’m not really sure.” 
Mr. Stein concurred with the fuel cost rising. 
Mr. Brugger said, “Laurel/Oak—is that going to have anything to do with the railroad in 
terms of any leveling there, or of any kind of correction on the crossing…or is that 
strictly either side of the railroad?” 
Mr. Crabill answered, “I think the crossing is the railroad’s responsibility, so this would 
be the pavement around it…up to it.” 
“So this Part 3—will go from the railroad, or does it start farther up…?” asked Mr. 
Brugger. 
“I’m not exactly sure—I think right past the railroad probably—they’ll probably go the 
other side and then stop,” said Mr. Crabill. “Yeah, I don’t know the exact boundary. I 
think it’s all based on straight line mileage…” 



 

 

Mr. Evans clarified what parts will begin when, and verified the match as 20%. 
“$134,400..,” said Mr. Crabill. 
“We were budgeting for how much? The whole project was in 2012?” asked Mr. Evans. 
“It would have been about that amount (from what Mike said), because originally they 
had $675,000 estimated…if you add up the two projects for next year up (Miami and this 
section of South Main at $672,000) so we were looking at that type of number next 
year…it’s just that putting it all together would have been more difficult…”said Mr. 
Crabill. 
“So one number’s one hundred and thirty-three, and one number’s one hundred and 
thirty-four…that’s a good distance,” added Mr. Lee Williams. 
Mr. Crabill indicated that when the budgeting process occurs, it will have to be 
determined ‘how they fit in.’ 
Mr. Evans questioned whether ‘we’re going to plan for an increase, or just wait until it 
gets here.’ 
Mr. Bruce Evilsizor said, “Yeah—when they project it out, they factor that in. I guess 
they do their best effort in factoring in.” 
Mr. Evans acknowledged the difficulty in predicting, but recommended anticipating that 
the numbers aren’t going to be what they are today. 
 
RESOLUTION NO. 2337 – 

A RESOLUTION TO AUTHORIZE MAKING APPLICATION TO THE OHIO 
DEPARTMENT OF DEVELOPMENT UNDER THE COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT 
BLOCK GRANT COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT PROGRAM 
*Read and declared a First Reading 
Discussion – 
Mr. Crabill explained this Resolution: 
“This is to apply for FY2011 CDBG money. The application is usually due at the end of 
June, however the State changed it this year—because of the ramblings at the Federal 
level over CDBG Funding (they didn’t know what the amount was going to be, that was 
going to come back from the Federal Government to the State…and then down to the 
communities). They finally got that information, but they delayed the grant application 
until the end of July…so typically, we would’ve already had this Resolution…but it’s a 
little bit later. You’ll see in the Resolution, it says, ‘Up to 64,000’…we were told to use 
last year’s number for what funding was available from this program. Since that time--I 
made a phone call Friday—and we’ve been told it’s about 8% less off the 64,000, 
so…which I think is like $5,500., if I’m not mistaken. Also with this—we would like to 
have a Public Hearing (prior to the next Council Meeting). There is already a Public 
Meeting scheduled at 6:30 that night for the COAF application, the Ohio Assistance Fund 
Application for Q3. I would like to (if it would be possible) to have the Public Hearing 
for the CDBG at 6:15, followed by the COAF Hearing, and then the Meeting itself—if 
that’s agreeable to Council.” 
Mr. Evans indicated that he may not be available for the 6:15PM Public Hearing. 
Mr. Crabill noted the COAF Hearing may take 30 minutes, so the CDBG Public Hearing 
could not be moved. 
CBBG Funding may be utilized to assist the local paving program according to Mr. 
Crabill. 



 

 

Miscellaneous Business 
Mr. Thorpe             - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Bean                - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Fields              - Noted receiving calls regarding Columbia Gas going in and destroy- 
                                 ing property; He announced the following telephone number for re- 
                                 sidents to call if they’re having problems: 1-800-344-4077 
                                 (7AM-7PM  M-F) 
Mr. Evans              - (to Mr.Williams) said, “I was at a meeting last night, and there was a 
                                 gentleman from the State that…one of the discussion topics was  
                                 ‘Local Government’ and how drastically there will be cuts in the  
                                 State’s budget. What percentage of our budget do we capture from 
                                 local government funds?” 
Mr. Williams answered, “Less than 5%. Our government fund budget’s around $8mil—
government fund allocation through the County Auditor’s Office is about $400,000…and 
we’re not sure how much of that’s going to be impacted at this point…so I can’t tell you 
if it’s going to be the 25/25 (25% the first year/25% the second year).I do know it will be 
impacted…” 
“But there’s no question, we’re going to be cut?” asked Mr. Evans. 
Mr. Williams said: 
“There’s no question we’ll be impacted—the impact could be…last time it was reviewed 
by the County Auditor she was indicating a $118,000 reduction over a whole year on the 
$8mil budget (on the total government fund of $8mil), so it gives you a picture (a 
perspective) of what we’re dealing with at this point…but we don’t know if that’s the end 
of it, or if it’s going to be two $118,000 cuts…if it is that’s going to present us a different 
problem…but it’s going to be over 2 years, it will be this year and next year. It starts the 
second half—their budget starts July 1st, so the impact would be for a half year election 
this year, and then next year it would be a full year.” 
At the risk of stealing Mr. Bean’s thunder, Mr. Evans asked, “Are our income tax 
collections…up or down?” 
Mr. Williams reminded Council ‘of 5 of 6 months of successful (above average) 
collections compared to the budget.’ 
“This month (so far) we’re at 201,000 collections against a plan of 430 for the 
month…the good news is we’re 2 weeks into the month, 3 weeks to go…that should give 
us an idea that we’re probably on track to probably make this month again,” stated Mr. 
Williams, also mentioning the current unemployment rate. 
Mr. Brugger            -  Asked Mr. Evilsizor about the Pool (whether all is well/if the Pool  
                                   is off to a good start 
                                   Mr. Evilsizor noted the chlorine pump replacement, and stated that 
                                   the Pool had a good first day (better than the City has seen before) 
                                   Mr. Brugger also discussed the water coming off of High St. (while 
                                   traveling on Miami St.); Asked Mr. Munch whether this was a  
                                  ‘planned dig, or a surprise.’ 
                                   Mr. Munch announced the Gas Company had hit a City water line 
                                   Mr. Brugger asked about Jefferson (a week ago) 
                                   Mr. Munch  noted the problem was a service line that created a  
                                   sinkhole 



 

 

 
Mr. Shaw                  - Noted a telephone call regarding the 400 block of Lowden St. 
                                    Mr. Munch said he believed it involved a break on the home- 
                                    owner’s side 
Mr. Lokai                  - Announced the following upcoming events list: 
June 18 –     Lavender Festival 
June 18 –      Pilot’s Pancake Breakfast 
June 20-22  “Fly the Ford” at the Airport 
June 24-25    Class Reunion, Urbana High School Class of 1961 
                     Also noted the Class is searching for: William Smart, Robert Puckett, 
                     Marilyn Organ, Ronnie Knull, Pam Howard, Kenneth Gibson, David 
                     Brackney, Carolyn Lacey Seifert                         (Contact # 653-6781)  
June 25 -      100 OSU Alumni Band Concert 
June 25 -      G O B O Bike Tour (Stopping at the Fairgrounds) 
June 25 -      Home & Garden Tour 
June 27 -      St. Paris hosting Dr. Gordon Gee (Breakfast) 
July 4 -         Rotary Chicken Barbeque, Champaign County Cruisers, Fireworks 
July 8-10      Balloon Fest; Saturday, July 9 – Mayor Zerkle and City Official Award 
Mr. Colin Stein           - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Crabill                  - Addressed the ‘concrete and repairing streets’ contract/repairs 
Mr. Robert Munch      - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Williams               - Nothing at this time 
Mr. Evilsizor               - Mentioned Water Rate Hikes – July 1st (25 cents a unit; average 
                                      of  $1.50 residential users); New rates will appear on Sept. bill 
Mayor Ruth Zerkle     - Nothing at this time 
Council President Hess 
                                    - Recognized Mr. Elmo Layman and Mr. Earl Cottrell who are  

  trimming trees between the sidewalk and the curb for free; He 
  publicly thanked them, and encouraged residents to offer them  
  a cool drink 
  Cautioned City workers/elected officials regarding speeding on 
  public streets 
  Discussed BZA changes in M1 District as a WS topic 
  Encouraged residents to step up flag displays for July 4th 
  Discussed water problems in the 4th Ward, and announced forma- 
  tion of a committee (Steve Shaw, Bill Bean) to get together with  
  the residents, compile information, and get back with Council 
  Noted the Interim Chiefs at the Council Meeting, and said he 
  received notification from Mr. Evilsizor that testing will be con- 
  ducted soon; Recommended the Mayor-Elect be in on the transi- 
  tion, so that everything moves along smoothly 

 
EXECUTIVE SESSION 
Mr. Thorpe moved to adjourn to Executive Session (approximately 8:01PM) to discuss 
“Labor Negotiations” and “Personnel”; Mr. Lokai seconded. 



 

 

Roll call vote to approve: Mr. Shaw, yes; Mr. Lokai, yes; Mr. Thorpe, yes; Mr. Bean, yes; 
Mr. Fields, yes; Mr. Evans, yes; Mr. Brugger, yes (7-0)  
 
 
ADJOURNMENT 
Following the Executive Session, Mr. Evans moved to reconvene to Regular Session and 
adjourn; Mr. Thorpe seconded. All were in favor of adjournment. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
_____________________________                      ______________________________ 
Council Clerk                                                          Council President 
 
 
 
June 14, 2011 Minutes.doc                               Urbana City Council                                                    Page 8 of 8       
 
            
 
  
 
 
 
  
 
 


